UCSF

US Surgeon General Reports

Title

Executive Summary: Tobacco Use Among U.S. Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups: African Americans, American Indians and Alaska Natives, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders,

Hispanics: A Report of the Surgeon General

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/8mq4z7jc

Author

U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Publication Date

1998-10-09

Peer reviewed



Recommendations and Reports

Tobacco Use Among U.S. Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups African Americans American Indians and Alaska Natives Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders Hispanics

A Report of the Surgeon General

Executive Summary

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) Atlanta, Georgia 30333



The MMWR series of publications is published by the Epidemiology Program Office, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Atlanta, GA 30333.

SUGGESTED CITATION

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Tobacco use among U.S. racial/ethnic minority groups, African Americans, American Indians and Alaska Natives, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, Hispanics: a report of the Surgeon General (Executive Summary). MMWR 1998;47(No. RR-18):[inclusive page numbers].

Acting Director The material in this report was prepared for publication by National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention Director Office on Smoking and HealthMichael P. Eriksen, Sc.D. Director The production of this report as an MMWR serial publication was coordinated in Epidemiology Program Office......Barbara R. Holloway, M.P.H. Acting Director Office of Scientific and Health CommunicationsJohn W. Ward, M.D. Editor, MMWR Series Managing Editor Julie T. Creasy Project Editor Morie M. Higgins Visual Information Specialist

Use of trade names and commercial sources is for identification only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Copies can be purchased from Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402-9325. Telephone: (202) 512-1800.

NOTICE

The issue of MMWR Recommendations and Reports (Vol. 47, No. RR-18) is a reprint of the Executive Summary of the Surgeon General's report entitled Tobacco Use Among U.S. Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups, released April 27, 1998. The report is included in the MMWR Series of publications so that the material may be readily accessible to the public health community.

Copies of the full report (stock no. 017-001-00527-4) are available for \$20 from the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402-9328; telephone (202) 512-1800; fax (202) 512-1650.



THE SECRETARY OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES WASHINGTON, D.C. 20201

The Honorable Newt Gingrich Speaker of the House of Representatives Washington, D.C. 20515

Dear Mr. Speaker:

I am pleased to transmit to the Congress the Surgeon General's report on the health consequences of smoking, entitled Tobacco Use Among U.S. Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups. This report is mandated by Section 8(a) of the Public Health Cigarette Smoking Act of 1969 (Public Law 91-222) and includes the health effects of smokeless tobacco products, as mandated by Section 8(a) of the Comprehensive Smokeless Tobacco Health Education Act of 1986 (Public Law 99-252). The report was prepared by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

This is the first Surgeon General's report to focus on tobacco use among four U.S. racial/ethnic minority groups: African Americans, American Indians and Alaska Natives, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, and Hispanics. It provides a single, comprehensive source of data on each racial/ethnic group's patterns of tobacco use, physical effects related to tobacco smoking and chewing, societal and psychosocial factors associated with tobacco use, and a selection of specific tobacco control programs. Armed with accurate data, health professionals can plan appropriate programs to address more effectively the health needs of these groups.

Smoking is the leading cause of preventable death in the United States. Certain racial/ethnic minority populations remain at high risk for using tobacco and often bear a disproportionate share of the human and economic cost of tobacco use. For instance, African Americans suffer the highest death rates from several diseases caused by smoking. Although some recent declines in lung cancer trends are encouraging, we have reason for great concern about recently reported increases in rates of smoking among African-American and Hispanic high school students.

According to estimates from the U.S. Bureau of the Census, over the next 50 years, the size of these four racial/ethnic minority groups is expected to increase dramatically, becoming almost half of the U.S. population by the year 2050. This projection clearly indicates the need to develop effective strategies to prevent tobacco-related disease and death in these four minority population groups.

Enclosure



THE SECRETARY OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES WASHINGTON, D.C. 20201

The Honorable Albert Gore, Jr. President of the Senate Washington, D.C. 20510

Dear Mr. President:

I am pleased to transmit to the Congress the Surgeon General's report on the health consequences of smoking, entitled Tobacco Use Among U.S. Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups. This report is mandated by Section 8(a) of the Public Health Cigarette Smoking Act of 1969 (Public Law 91-222) and includes the health effects of smokeless tobacco products, as mandated by Section 8(a) of the Comprehensive Smokeless Tobacco Health Education Act of 1986 (Public Law 99-252). The report was prepared by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

This is the first Surgeon General's report to focus on tobacco use among four U.S. racial/ethnic minority groups: African Americans, American Indians and Alaska Natives, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, and Hispanics. It provides a single, comprehensive source of data on each racial/ethnic group's patterns of tobacco use, physical effects related to tobacco smoking and chewing, societal and psychosocial factors associated with tobacco use, and a selection of specific tobacco control programs. Armed with accurate data, health professionals can plan appropriate programs to address more effectively the health needs of these groups.

Smoking is the leading cause of preventable death in the United States. Certain racial/ethnic minority populations remain at high risk for using tobacco and often bear a disproportionate share of the human and economic cost of tobacco use. For instance, African Americans suffer the highest death rates from several diseases caused by smoking. Although some recent declines in lung cancer trends are encouraging, we have reason for great concern about recently reported increases in rates of smoking among African-American and Hispanic high school students.

According to estimates from the U.S. Bureau of the Census, over the next 50 years, the size of these four racial/ethnic minority groups is expected to increase dramatically, becoming almost half of the U.S. population by the year 2050. This projection clearly indicates the need to develop effective strategies to prevent tobacco-related disease and death in these four minority population groups.

Enclosure

Contents

| oreword | |
|---|-----|
| Preface | vii |
| Acknowledgments | ix |
| Chapter 1. Introduction and Summary of Conclusions | 1 |
| Introduction | 2 |
| Major Conclusions | |
| Preparation of This Report | 4 |
| Terms Related to Race and Ethnicity | 5 |
| Terms Related to Tobacco Use | 6 |
| Demographic Characteristics of the Four Racial/Ethnic | |
| Minority Groups | |
| Effects of Racial/Ethnic Background on Health | 8 |
| Chapter Conclusions | 10 |
| Chapter 2. Patterns of Tobacco Use Among Four Racial/Ethnic | |
| Minority Groups | 10 |
| Chapter 3. Health Consequences of Tobacco Use Among Four | |
| Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups | 11 |
| Chapter 4. Factors That Influence Tobacco Use Among Four | |
| Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups | 12 |
| Chapter 5. Tobacco Control and Education Efforts Among | |
| Members of Four Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups | |
| Bibliography | 14 |

Foreword

The United States of America is a rich blend of cultures. This diversity demands close attention from the agencies and individuals responsible for protecting the public's health. For too long in tobacco control, attention to diversity has been less consistent than is necessary for planning and developing effective health programs. As a result, we sometimes lack sufficient information on which to base tobacco control interventions. With this report, we begin to address such problems and point the way to filling these gaps in knowledge.

Tobacco use causes devastating disease and premature death in every population in the United States. For four major U.S. racial/ethnic minority groups — African Americans, American Indians and Alaska Natives, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, and Hispanics — patterns of tobacco use, adverse health effects, and the effectiveness of interventions need to be understood in terms of tobacco's cultural and socioeconomic effects on the members of these groups. This report describes the complex factors that play a part in the growing epidemic of diseases caused by tobacco use in these four groups.

Since 1964 when the first Surgeon General's report on smoking and health was released, this report is the first to focus exclusively on tobacco use among members of these four racial/ethnic groups. Together these groups constitute about 25 percent of the U.S. population, and that proportion is growing rapidly. Public health programs must effectively address the health needs of this significant proportion of people. Such action is of paramount importance to reducing tobacco use in the United States and meeting national health objectives for the year 2000. We hope that this report will provide the basis for renewing our commitment to develop more effective tobacco control programs and policies for people of every racial and ethnic background. In addition, the report can be used by parents and communities as a tool to develop their own solutions. With continued diligence, we shall strive to reach and exceed whenever possible our stated health goals by the year 2000 and reduce the enormous health burden caused by tobacco products.

Claire V. Broome, M.D.
Acting Director
Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
and
Acting Administrator
Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry

Preface from the Surgeon General U.S. Department of Health and Human Services

Effective strategies are needed to reduce tobacco use among members of U.S. racial/ethnic groups and thus diminish their burden of tobacco-related diseases and deaths. Cigarette smoking is the leading cause of preventable disease and death in the United States. There is enormous potential to reduce heart disease, cancer, stroke, and respiratory disease among members of racial and ethnic groups, who make up the most rapidly growing segment of the U.S. population.

This Surgeon General's report is the first to address the diverse tobacco control needs of the four major U.S. racial/ethnic minority groups — African Americans, American Indians and Alaska Natives, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, and Hispanics. This report is also the only single, comprehensive source of data on each group's patterns of tobacco use, physical effects related to tobacco smoking and chewing, and societal and psychosocial factors associated with tobacco use.

The findings detailed in this report indicate that if tobacco use is not reduced among members of these four racial/ethnic groups, they will experience increasing morbidity and mortality from tobacco use. The toll is currently highest for African American adults. Findings also suggest that some close, long-term relationships between tobacco companies and various racial/ethnic communities could hamper U.S. efforts to lower rates of tobacco use by the year 2000. Also notable is the support that members of racial/ethnic groups have shown for legislative efforts to control tobacco use, sales, advertising, and promotion.

As this report goes to press, discouraging news comes from a report published by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention on the Youth Risk Behavior Survey about tobacco use among African American and Hispanic high school students. Pastmonth smoking increased among African American students by 80 percent and among Hispanic students by 34 percent from 1991 through 1997. The consistent decline once seen among young African Americans has sharply reversed in recent years. Past-month smoking prevalence increased from 13 percent to 23 percent among African Americans and from 25 percent to 34 percent among Hispanics.

Although cancer remains common in Americans of all racial and ethnic groups, the pattern of increasing lung cancer deaths in the 1970s and 1980s among African American, Hispanic, and some American Indian and Alaska Native subgroups has been halted or reversed for some groups from 1990 through 1995. Some encouraging news from Cancer Incidence and Mortality, 1973–1995: A Report Card for the U.S. was just published by the American Cancer Society, the National Cancer Institute, and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The report described lung cancer trend data from 1990 through 1995 for African Americans, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, and Hispanics. Lung cancer death rates declined significantly for African American men and for Hispanic men and women from 1990 through 1995; death rates did not change significantly for African American women or for Asian American and Pacific Islander men or women. Although lung cancer trends may continue to decline among some racial/ethnic groups for several more years, recent increases in smoking prevalence among adolescent African Americans and Hispanics and among Asian American and Pacific Islander adolescent males, coupled with the lack of decline

among American Indian and Alaska Native adults, do not bode well for long-term trends in lung cancer.

One purpose of this report is to guide researchers in their future efforts to garner more information needed to develop effective prevention and control programs. Several significant research questions need to be addressed. For example, why are African American youths smoking cigarettes in lower proportions than youths in other racial/ethnic groups? How does acculturation affect patterns of tobacco use among immigrants to the United States? What are the differential effects of gender on tobacco use among members of certain racial/ethnic groups?

What racial- and ethnic-specific protective factors and risk factors will promote the development of culturally appropriate interventions to prevent and control tobacco use? And to what extent are culturally specific tobacco control programs necessary to curb tobacco use among racial/ethnic populations? While researchers are redirecting their focus, federal, state, and private tobacco control partners need to address program issues, such as how to develop and evaluate culturally appropriate prevention and cessation interventions.

This report includes examples of numerous racial- and ethnic-specific tobacco control programs used in communities across the country. These and other racial/ethnic group-specific programs must be disseminated to all areas of the country, where program planners can develop their own strategies, taking into consideration the cultural attitudes, norms, expectations, and values of the targeted cultural groups.

In each of these endeavors, we will succeed only if we are sensitive to our cultural differences and similarities. I challenge federal and state agencies as well as researchers and practitioners in the social, behavioral, public health, clinical, and biomedical sciences to join me in the pursuit of effective strategies to prevent and control tobacco use among racial/ethnic groups. By meeting this challenge, we will progress toward achieving the nation's year 2000 tobacco-related health objectives and will help to prevent the unnecessary disability, disease, and deaths that result from tobacco use.

David Satcher, M.D., Ph.D.
Surgeon General
and
Assistant Secretary for Health

Acknowledgments

This report was prepared by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services under the general direction of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health.

- Claire V. Broome, M.D., Acting Director, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- James S. Marks, M.D., M.P.H., Director, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Virginia S. Bales, M.P.H., Deputy Director, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Michael P. Eriksen, Sc.D., Director, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.

The editors of the report were

- Gerardo Marín, Ph.D., Senior Scientific Editor, Professor, Department of Psychology, University of San Francisco, San Francisco, California.
- Gayle Lloyd, M.A., Managing Editor, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Valerie R. Johnson, Senior Editor, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Anne M. Pritchett, Technical Editor, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

Contributing authors were

- Neal L. Benowitz, M.D., Professor and Chief, Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Departments of Medicine, Pharmacy, and Psychiatry, School of Medicine, University of California, San Francisco, California.
- Alan Blum, M.D., Associate Professor, Baylor College of Medicine, Houston, Texas.
- Ronald L. Braithwaite, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Division of Behavioral Sciences and Health Education, Emory University School of Public Health, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Felipe G. Castro, M.S.W., Ph.D., Director, Hispanic Research Center, and Associate Professor, Department of Psychology, Arizona State University, Tempe, Arizona.
- Moon S. Chen, Jr., Ph.D., M.P.H., Professor, Department of Preventive Medicine, Ohio State University, Columbus, Ohio.
- David B. Coultas, M.D., Associate Professor of Medicine, School of Medicine, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, New Mexico.
- Luis G. Escobedo, M.D., M.P.H., Medical Epidemiologist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Dorothy L. Faulkner, Ph.D., M.P.H., Epidemiologist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Larri L. Fredericks, Ph.D., M.P.H., Associate Scientist, American Indian Cancer Control Project, Medical Research Institute, Berkeley, California.
- Gary A. Giovino, Ph.D., Chief, Epidemiology Branch, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Sandra W. Headen, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, Department of Health Behavior and Health Education, School of Public Health, University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill, North Carolina.
- Felicia Schanche Hodge, Dr.P.H., Principal Investigator and Director, Center for American Indian Research and Education, Berkeley, California.

- Nancy J. Kaufman, R.N., M.S., Vice President, Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, Princeton, New Jersey.
- Juliette S. Kendrick, M.D., Medical Epidemiologist, Division of Reproductive Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Gary King, Ph.D., Assistant Professor and Coordinator, Urban Health Research Program, School of Medicine, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington, Connecticut.
- Beverly S. Kingsley, Ph.D., M.P.H., Epidemiologist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Rod Lew, M.P.H., Health Education Director, Asian Health Services, Oakland, California.
- Ann M. Malarcher, Ph.D., Epidemiologist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Robert K. Merritt, M.A., Health Scientist, Division of Reproductive Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Michael D. Newcomb, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Psychology, University of California, Los Angeles, California.
- John P. Peddicord, M.S., Computer Scientist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Richard Pollay, Ph.D., Professor of Marketing, and Curator, History of Advertising Archives, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada.
- Amelie G. Ramirez, Dr.P.H., Associate Professor, Department of Family Practice, University of Texas, and Director, South Texas Health Research Center, San Antonio, Texas.
- Patricia A. Richter, Ph.D., M.P.H., Toxicologist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Robert G. Robinson, Dr.P.H., Associate Director for Program Development, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Richard B. Rothenberg, M.D., M.P.H., Professor, Department of Family and Preventive Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Jonathan M. Samet, M.D., Chairman, Department of Epidemiology, School of Hygiene and Public Health, The Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, Maryland.
- Michael W. Schooley, M.P.H., Epidemiologist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Dana Shelton, M.P.H., Epidemiologist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Michael B. Siegel, M.D., M.P.H., Assistant Professor, Boston University School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Charyn D. Sutton, President, The Onyx Group, Bala Cynwyd, Pennsylvania.
- Scott L. Tomar, D.M.D., Dr.P.H., Assistant Professor, Department of Dental Public Health and Hygiene, School of Dentistry, University of California, San Francisco, California.
- Bao-Ping Zhu, M.S., M.B.B.S., Ph.D., Visiting Scientist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.

Reviewers were

- Jasjit S. Ahluwalia, M.D., M.P.H., M.S., Assistant Professor of Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia.
- David G. Altman, Ph.D., Associate Professor, Department of Public Health Sciences, Bowman Gray School of Medicine, Wake Forest University, Winston-Salem, North Carolina.
- Glen Bennett, M.P.H., Coordinator, Office of Prevention, Education, and Control, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Gilbert J. Botvin, Ph.D., Director, Institute for Prevention Research, Department of Public Health, Cornell University Medical College, New York, New York.
- L. Jackson Brown, Director, Epidemiology and Oral Disease Prevention Program, National Institute of Dental Research, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Linda Burhansstipanov, Dr.P.H., Director, Native American Cancer Research Program, American Medical Center Cancer Research Center, Denver, Colorado.
- David Burns, M.D., Professor of Medicine, University of California at San Diego Medical Center, San Diego, California.
- W. Michael Byrd, M.D., M.P.H., Visiting Research Fellow, Department of Health Policy and Management, Harvard School of Public Health, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Portia S. Choi, M.D., M.P.H., District Health Officer, Dr. Ruth Temple Health Center, Los Angeles, California.
- Nathaniel Cobb, M.D., Director, Cancer Prevention and Control Program, Indian Health Service Headquarters West, Albuquerque, New Mexico.
- Janet L. Collins, Ph.D., Director, Division of Nutrition and Physical Activity, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Robert J. Collins, D.M.D., Chief Dental Officer, U.S. Public Health Service, Rockville, Maryland.
- Linda S. Crossett, R.D.H., Research Scientist, Division of Adolescent and School Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- K. Michael Cummings, Ph.D., Director, Smoking Control Program, Roswell Park Cancer Institute, New York State Department of Health, Buffalo, New York.
- Dorynne J. Czechowicz, M.D., Associate Director for Medical and Professional Affairs, Division of Clinical Research, National Institute on Drug Abuse, National Institutes of Health, Rockville, Maryland.
- Ronald M. Davis, M.D., Director, Center for Health Promotion and Disease Prevention, Henry Ford Health System, Detroit, Michigan.
- Richard A. Daynard, Ph.D., J.D., Chairman, Tobacco Products Liability Project, Northeastern University School of Law, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Jane L. Delgado, Ph.D., President and Chief Executive Officer, National Coalition of Hispanic Health and Human Services Organization, Washington, D.C.
- John Elder, Ph.D., M.P.H., Professor, Graduate School of Public Health, San Diego State University, San Diego, California.
- Harmon Eyre, M.D., Deputy Executive Vice President for Medical Affairs and Research, American Cancer Society, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Michael C. Fiore, M.D., M.P.H., Director, Center for Tobacco Research and Intervention, University of Wisconsin Medical School, Madison, Wisconsin.
- Adele M. Franks, M.D., Assistant Director for Science, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Harold P. Freeman, M.D., Director of Surgery, Harlem Hospital Center, New York, New York.
- Thomas J. Glynn, Ph.D., Chief, Prevention Control Extramural Research Branch, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Rockville, Maryland.

- Michael G. Goldstein, M.D., Associate Professor of Psychiatry and Human Behavior, Brown University School of Medicine, Providence, Rhode Island.
- Robert A. Hahn, Ph.D., M.P.H., Epidemiologist, Epidemiology Program Office, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Betty Lee Hawks, M.A., Special Assistant to the Director, Office of Minority Health, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Rockville, Maryland.
- Clark W. Heath, Jr., M.D., Vice President for Epidemiology and Surveillance Research, American Cancer Society, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Jack E. Henningfield, Ph.D., Vice President, Pinney Associates, Bethesda, Maryland.
- John H. Holbrook, M.D., Director of Internal Medicine, University of Utah Hospital, Salt Lake City, Utah.
- Thomas Houston, M.D., Director, Department of Preventive Medicine and Public Health, American Medical Association, Chicago, Illinois.
- Rudolph S. Jackson, Dr.P.H., Professor, Department of Health Education, North Carolina Central University, Durham, North Carolina.
- Elaine M. Johnson, Ph.D., Director, Center for Substance Abuse Prevention, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Rockville, Maryland.
- Nora L. Keenan, Ph.D., Epidemiologist, Office of Surveillance and Analysis, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Monina Klevens, D.D.S., M.P.H., Medical Officer, Division of HIV/AIDS, National Center for Infectious Diseases, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Norman A. Krasnegor, Ph.D., Chief, Human Learning and Behavior Branch, Center for Research for Mothers and Children, National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Leonard E. Lawrence, M.D., President, National Medical Association, University of Texas Health Sciences Center at San Antonio, San Antonio, Texas.
- Edward Lichtenstein, Ph.D., Research Scientist, Oregon Research Institute, Eugene, Oregon.
- Douglas S. Lloyd, M.D., M.P.H., Associate Administrator for Public Health Practice, Health Resources and Services Administration, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Rockville, Maryland.
- Judith Mackay, M.B.E., J.P., F.R.C.P., Director, Asian Consultancy on Tobacco Control, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
- Audrey F. Manley, M.D., M.P.H., President, Spelman College, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Alfred McAlister, Ph.D., Associate Professor and Associate Director, Center for Health Promotion Research and Development, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, Texas.
- J. Michael McGinnis, M.D., Scholar-in-Residence, National Academy of Sciences, Washington, D.C.
- Bertha Mo, Ph.D., M.P.H., Senior Program Officer, International Development Research Centre, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada.
- C. Tracy Orleans, Ph.D., Senior Program Officer, The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, Princeton, New Jersey.
- Terry F. Pechacek, Ph.D., Visiting Scientist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Cheryl L. Perry, Ph.D., Professor, Division of Epidemiology, School of Public Health, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, Minnesota.
- John P. Pierce, Ph.D., Sam M. Walton Professor for Cancer Research, Department of Family and Preventive Medicine, University of California, San Diego, California.
- Donald H. Reece, Tobacco Control Coordinator, Indian Health Service, Albuquerque, New Mexico.
- Patrick Remington, M.D., M.P.H., Chief Medical Officer, Wisconsin Division of Health, Madison, Wisconsin.

- Irene Reveles-Chase, M.P.H., Health Education Consultant, Tobacco Control Section, California Department of Public Health, Sacramento, California.
- Nancy A. Rigotti, M.D., Director, Quit Smoking Service, General Internal Medicine Unit, Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts.
- Donald J. Sharp, M.D., Medical Epidemiologist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Donald R. Shopland, Coordinator, Smoking and Tobacco Control Program, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland.
- Beverly R. Singer, M.A., Research Staff Associate, School of Social Work, Columbia University, New York, New York.
- Jesse L. Steinfeld, M.D., Surgeon General, U.S. Public Health Service, 1969–1973, San Diego, California.
- Jonathan R. Sugarman, M.D., M.P.H., Medical Epidemiologist, Portland Area Indian Health Service, Seattle, Washington.
- Michael J. Thun, M.D., Director, Analytic Epidemiology, American Cancer Society, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Michael H. Trujillo, M.D., M.P.H., Director, Indian Health Service, Rockville, Maryland.
- Kenneth E. Warner, Ph.D., Richard D. Remington Collegiate Professor of Public Health, Department of Health Management and Policy, School of Public Health, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan.
- Raymond Weston, Ph.D., Postdoctoral Fellow, Memorial Sloan-Kettering Cancer Center, Division of Psychiatry, New York, New York.
- Judith Wilkenfeld, J.D., Assistant Director, Division of Advertising Practices, Federal Trade Commission, Washington, D.C.
- Jerome Williams, Ph.D., Professor of Marketing, Pennsylvania State University, University Park, Pennsylvania.
- Ernst L. Wynder, M.D., President, American Health Foundation, New York, New York.

Other contributors were

Marco Andujar, Telecommunications Specialist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.

Ruth Atchison, Proofreader, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

Cheryl Baldwin, Graphic Artist/Desktop Publishing Specialist, High 5 Design, Gaithersburg, Maryland.

Mary Bedford, Proofreader, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

Christine V. Bellantoni, Graduate Student, University of Connecticut Health Center, Farmington,

Maureen Berg, Desktop Publishing Specialist, Market Experts, Silver Spring, Maryland,

Marissa Bernstein, Indexer, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

- Nowell D. Berreth, Writer-Editor, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Joyce Buchanan, Administrative Assistant, Institute for Social Research, Survey Research Center, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan.
- Janine E. Bullard, Proofreader, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.
- Ralph S. Carabello, Ph.D., Epidemiologist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Jeffrey H. Chrismon, Systems Analyst, TRW Inc., Atlanta, Georgia.
- Paulette Clark McGee, Proofreader, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

- Coreen A. Colovos, Copy Editor, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.
- David F. Coole, M.S., Statistical Programmer, TRW Inc., Atlanta, Georgia.
- Karen M. Deasy, Associate Director, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Washington, D.C.
- Susan R. Derrick, Program Analyst, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Ellen C. Dreyer, R.N., M.S., Project Director, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.
- Rita Elliott, M.A., Editorial Consultant, University of New Mexico, School of Medicine, Albuquerque, New Mexico.
- Raymond J. Gamba, M.S., Graduate Student, The Claremont Graduate School, Claremont, California.
- Maritta Perry Grau, M.A., Copy Editor, The Write Touch: Editorial Services, Frederick, Maryland.
- Sarah Gregory, Acting Managing Editor, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Lillian E. Hatch, M.S.L.S., Information Specialist, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.
- Elizabeth L. Hess, Copy Editor, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.
- Thomya Hogan, Proofreader, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.
- Reta N. Horton, M.A., Secretary, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Frederick L. Hull, Ph.D., Writer-Editor, Technical Information and Editorial Services Branch, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Mescal J. Knighton, Writer-Editor, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Anh Lé, Project Coordinator, Vietnamese Community Health Promotion Project, University of California, San Francisco, California.
- Yun Chen W. Lin, M.P.H., Technical Information Specialist, TRW Inc., Atlanta, Georgia.
- William T. Marx, M.L.I.S., Technical Information Specialist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Maribet McCarty, R.N., M.P.H., Technical Information Specialist, The Orkand Corporation, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Margie McDonald, Word Processing Specialist, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.
- Linda A. McLaughlin, Word Processing Specialist, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.
- Jennifer A. Michaels, M.L.S., Technical Information Specialist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Barbara A. Mills, Secretary, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Paul D. Mowery, M.S., Senior Research Scientist, Battelle Memorial Institute, Atlanta, Georgia. Leslie A. Norman, Public Affairs Specialist, Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Atlanta, Georgia.
- Ward C. Nyholm, Desktop Publishing Specialist, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.
- Patrick O'Malley, Ph.D., Research Scientist, Institute for Social Research, Survey Research Center, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan.
- Anniette Ponce de León, Student, University of San Francisco, San Francisco, California.
- Felicia A. Powell, M.S., Statistical Programmer, TRW Inc., Atlanta, Georgia.

Christopher Rigaux, Project Director, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

Patricia L. Schwartz, Graphic Artist/Desktop Publishing Specialist, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

Matthew B. Spangler, Proofreader, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

Catherine T. Timmerman, Chief Operating Officer, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

Peggy E. Williams, M.S., Proofreader, Marietta, Georgia.

Eve J. Wilson, Ph.D., Project Manager, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

Beatrice K. Wolman, M.S., Project Manager, Cygnus Corporation, Rockville, Maryland.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS

INTRODUCTION

This Surgeon General's report on tobacco use summarizes current information on risk factors and patterns related to tobacco use among members of four major racial and ethnic minority groups in the United States: African Americans, American Indians and Alaska Natives, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, and Hispanics. In addition, this report presents information on national and regional efforts to curtail consumption of tobacco products among members of these four groups. Previous Surgeon General's reports on smoking and health have briefly summarized findings related to one or more of the racial/ethnic groups covered in this report, but this is the first Surgeon General's report to concentrate specifically on the four major racial/ethnic groups in the United States.

Several factors prompted the development of this report. First, the information in this report has never before been compiled in one source. Consequently, policymakers, community leaders, researchers, and public health workers have had difficulty determining the extent of the problem, identifying gaps in information regarding to-bacco use among members of the four groups, or being aware of existing tobacco control programs that have demonstrated effectiveness. Thus, incorporating such information into the design and implementation of culturally appropriate services has been difficult.

Second, the four racial/ethnic groups currently constitute about one-fourth of the population of this country, and the Bureau of the Census projects that by 2050 the non-Hispanic white population in the United States will total only 53 percent (Day 1996). Preventing health problems related to tobacco use among the individuals in racial and ethnic groups will be integral to achieving U.S. public health objectives, such as those proposed in *Healthy People 2000: National Health Promotion and Disease Prevention Objectives* (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services [USDHHS] 1991, 1995; National Center for Health Statistics [NCHS] 1994).

This report contributes essential knowledge that must be incorporated into efforts to accomplish the *Healthy People 2000* objectives, particularly these six goals:

- Objective 3.1. Reduce coronary heart disease deaths to no more than 100 per 100,000 people. (Age-adjusted baseline: 135 deaths per 100,000 people in 1987.) Among African Americans, reduce the number from 168 to 115 deaths per 100,000 people between 1987 and the year 2000 (Objective 3.1a).
- Objective 3.2. Slow the rise in lung cancer deaths to achieve a rate of no more than 42 per 100,000 people. (Age-adjusted baseline: 38.5 deaths per 100,000 people in 1987.) Among African American males, slow the rise from 86.1 to 91 deaths per 100,000 people between 1990 and the year 2000 (Objective 3.2b).
- Objective 3.4. Reduce the prevalence of cigarette smoking to no more than 15 percent among people aged 18 years and older. (Baseline: 29 percent in 1987 [31 percent for men and 27 percent for women].) Particular year 2000 objectives include lowering the prevalence of smoking to 18 percent among African Americans (Objective 3.4d), 15 percent among Hispanics (Objective 3.4e), and 20 percent among American Indians and Alaska Natives (Objective 3.4f) and Southeast Asian men (Objective 3.4g).

- Objective 3.5. Reduce the initiation of cigarette smoking by children and youths so that no more than 15 percent have become regular cigarette smokers by the age of 20 years. (Baseline: 30 percent of youths had become regular cigarette smokers by the ages of 20–24 years in 1987.)
- Objective 3.9. Reduce the prevalence of smokeless tobacco use among males aged 12–24 years to no more than 4 percent. (Baseline: 6.6 percent among males aged 12–17 years in 1988; 8.9 percent among males aged 18–24 years in 1987.) A specific objective is to lower the prevalence of smokeless tobacco use among American Indian and Alaska Native young adults to 10 percent by the year 2000 (Objective 3.9a).
- Objective 3.18. Reduce stroke deaths to no more than 20 per 100,000 people. (Age-adjusted baseline: 30.4 deaths per 100,000 people in 1987.) Among African Americans, reduce the number from 52.5 to 27.0 deaths per 100,000 people between 1987 and the year 2000 (Objective 3.18a).

This report of the Surgeon General also responds to the need to thoroughly analyze the smoking-related health status of racial/ethnic groups and to determine if there is a differential risk for tobacco addiction (Chen 1993). High risk might derive from personal characteristics but also from social factors, such as migratory patterns, acculturation, and the tobacco industry's historical involvement in the racial/ethnic communities and targeted advertising and promotion of tobacco products (see Chapter 4).

In addition, this report is needed to document how patterns of health, disease, and illness among people in the various racial/ethnic minority groups differ from patterns in the rest of the U.S. population. These differences reflect the groups' exposure to tobacco products, as well as the heterogeneity of the groups' lifestyles, cultural beliefs and practices, genetic backgrounds, and environmental exposures. This report illustrates how patterns of tobacco use differ among and within the four racial/ethnic groups (Chapter 2). It compares the groups in terms of the incidence and the prevalence of death rates for diseases commonly associated with tobacco use and presents data from case-control and cohort studies whenever possible (Chapter 3).

The health status of members of racial and ethnic groups in this country has also been the focus of previous federal reports, such as the *Health Status of Minorities and Low-Income Groups* (Health Resources and Services Administration [HRSA] 1985), the *Report of the Secretary's Task Force on Black and Minority Health* (USDHHS 1985), and *Chronic Disease in Minority Populations (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention* [CDC] 1994). This Surgeon General's report supports initiatives such as the Hispanic Health and Nutrition Examination Survey in the early 1980s; the Surgeon General's National Hispanic/Latino Health Initiative (Novello and Soto-Torres 1993); special funding initiatives from federal agencies such as the CDC, the National Cancer Institute, the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism, the National Institute on Drug Abuse, the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (1994), and the National Institute of Mental Health (National Institutes of Health 1993); the Department of Health and Human Services's 1996 *Hispanic Agenda for Action: Improving Services to Hispanic Americans*, and the 1998 President's Race Initiative, which includes special

funding initiatives for the CDC, the Indian Health Service, and the Health Resources and Services Administration.

Major Conclusions

- Cigarette smoking is a major cause of disease and death in each of the four population groups studied in this report. African Americans currently bear the greatest health burden. Differences in the magnitude of disease risk are directly related to differences in patterns of smoking.
- 2. Tobacco use varies within and among racial/ethnic minority groups; among adults, American Indians and Alaska Natives have the highest prevalence of tobacco use, and African American and Southeast Asian men also have a high prevalence of smoking. Asian American and Hispanic women have the lowest prevalence.
- 3. Among adolescents, cigarette smoking prevalence increased in the 1990s among African Americans and Hispanics after several years of substantial decline among adolescents of all four racial/ethnic minority groups. This increase is particularly striking among African American youths, who had the greatest decline of the four groups during the 1970s and 1980s.
- 4. No single factor determines patterns of tobacco use among racial/ethnic minority groups; these patterns are the result of complex interactions of multiple factors, such as socioeconomic status, cultural characteristics, acculturation, stress, biological elements, targeted advertising, price of tobacco products, and varying capacities of communities to mount effective tobacco control initiatives.
- 5. Rigorous surveillance and prevention research are needed on the changing cultural, psychosocial, and environmental factors that influence tobacco use to improve our understanding of racial/ethnic smoking patterns and identify strategic tobacco control opportunities. The capacity of tobacco control efforts to keep pace with patterns of tobacco use and cessation depends on timely recognition of emerging prevalence and cessation patterns and the resulting development of appropriate community-based programs to address the factors involved.

Preparation of This Report

This report of the Surgeon General was prepared by the Office on Smoking and Health, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, as part of the Department's mandate, under Public Laws 91–222 and 99–252, to report to the U.S. Congress current information about the health effects of tobacco use.

The report was produced with the assistance of experts in the behavioral, epidemiological, medical, and public health fields. Initial background papers were produced by more than 25 scientists who were selected because of their expertise and familiarity with the topics covered in this report. Their various contributions were summarized into five major chapters that were reviewed by 28 peer reviewers. The entire manuscript was then sent to 43 scientists and experts, who reviewed it for its

scientific integrity. Subsequently, the report was reviewed by various institutes and agencies within the Department of Health and Human Services.

Terms Related to Race and Ethnicity

Race and ethnicity are classifications currently used for various purposes, such as tracking morbidity and mortality statistics, defining group characteristics (as is done in many studies and by most federal and state agencies, including the U.S. Bureau of the Census), and exploring the health characteristics of individuals and groups. Most extant data consider four *racial* groups in the United States (African American or black, American Indian and Alaska Native, Asian American and Pacific Islander, and white) as well as two *ethnic* categories (Hispanic and non-Hispanic).

Specific choices have been made in selecting the labels used to identify individuals who share a given race, tradition, culture, or ethnicity. These labels differ somewhat from those published in the Race and Ethnic Standards for Federal Statistics and Administrative Reporting, more commonly known as Directive 15 (U.S. Department of Commerce 1978). This directive presents rules for classifying persons into four racial groups (American Indian or Alaskan Native, Asian or Pacific Islander, black, and white) and two ethnic categories (Hispanic origin and not of Hispanic origin). The labels in this report were chosen to reflect current preferred use by many members of each group and researchers as well as to more clearly identify members of a given group. Nevertheless, because of differences in the way in which ethnicity has been ascertained in the various studies, some overlap and misclassification may exist, particularly with regard to Hispanic origin (for example, Hispanics of African background may be classified as African Americans, or Hispanics may be classified as non-Hispanic whites). In addition, the terms used in this report do not always precisely depict the racial/ethnic group studied (for instance, this report consistently uses the term American Indian and Alaska Native, even when describing studies of Native Americans — a category that in some cases excludes Alaska Natives). Moreover, the terms used here do not reflect the fact that some studies were conducted in the 48 contiguous states and may exclude a substantial number of Alaska Natives and Native Hawaiians. Throughout this report, the following labels and definitions are used, with the referents basically agreeing with those of Directive 15:

- African American. Individuals who trace their ancestry of origin to Sub-Saharan Africa.
- American Indian and Alaska Native. Persons who have origins in any of the original peoples of North America and who maintain that cultural identification through self-identification, tribal affiliation, or community recognition.
- Asian American and Pacific Islander. Individuals who trace their background to the Far East, Southeast Asia, the Indian subcontinent, or the Pacific Islands.
- Hispanic. Persons who trace their background to one of the Spanish-speaking countries in the Americas or to other Spanish cultures or origins.
- White. Persons who have origins in any of the original peoples of Europe, North Africa, or the Middle East. Throughout most of this report, white refers to non-Hispanic whites.

Finally, this report avoids using such labels as *people of color, special populations, multicultural populations*, or *diverse populations* because some people consider them inaccurate, improper, or pejorative. Without question, not everyone will agree with the terms used in this report because no universally accepted labels exist. These terms will continue to evolve with time.

Terms Related to Tobacco Use

Throughout this report, prevalence of smoking cessation is used to describe the proportion of persons who had ever smoked and who were former smokers at the time of survey (this term is used instead of quit ratio or quit rate). Definitions related to smoking status — ever smokers, never smokers, current smokers, and former smokers — are presented later in this report (see Chapter 2).

Demographic Characteristics of the Four Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups

In the 1990 U.S. Census, the four racial and ethnic groups that are the focus of this report accounted for 24 percent of the population, or more than 60 million people (Table 1). African Americans were the largest group, followed by Hispanics, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, and American Indians and Alaska Natives. Although these groups constitute a minority of the total population, their overall growth of 32 percent between 1980 and 1990 far exceeds the 4-percent increase among whites (Table 1). Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders had the largest growth during that period, followed by Hispanics, American Indians and Alaska Natives, and African Americans. Because of this rapid growth, racial and ethnic populations tend to be younger than the white majority.

Demographic characteristics vary significantly when the four racial and ethnic groups are compared with whites, according to 1990 census data (Table 2; withingroup variability is masked because all subgroups that make up a given racial or ethnic group are considered together) (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1993c). The median ages of Hispanics (25.6 years), as well as American Indians and Alaska Natives (26.9 years), are lower than those of the other racial/ethnic group members. Hispanics have the lowest proportion of high school graduates (49.8 percent) of all groups and the highest proportion of people who speak a language other than English (77.8 percent). Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders (38.4 percent) as well as Hispanics

TABLE 1. U.S. population distribution, by race/ethnicity and Hispanic origin and percentage change, 1980–1990

| | 1980 (in millions) | 1990 (in millions) | % Change |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|----------|
| White* | 180.26 | 188.42 | 4 |
| African American* | 26.10 | 29.28 | 12 |
| Hispanic | 14.61 | 21.90 [†] | 50 |
| Asian American and Pacific Islander | 3.50 | 7.23 | 107 |
| American Indian and Alaska Native§ | 1.42 | 2.02 | 42 |

^{*}Excludes persons of Hispanic origin.

Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census 1983, 1993c.

[†]Excludes 3.5 million Hispanics in Puerto Rico.

[§]Includes Eskimos and Aleuts.

TABLE 2. Selected demographic characteristics for the U.S. population, by race/ethnicity, 1990

| Characteristic | African Americans | American Indians/ Alaska Natives | Asian Americans/ Pacific Islanders | Hispanics | Whites* |
|---|----------------------|---|---|----------------------|--------------------|
| Population | 29,930,524 | 2,015,143 | 7,226,986 | 21,900,089 | 188,424,773 |
| Women (percentage) | 52.8 | 50.4 | 51.2 | 49.2 | 51.3 |
| Median age (years) | 28.2 | 26.9 | 30.1 | 25.6 | 34.9 |
| Foreign born (percentage) | 4.9 | 2.3 | 63.1 | 35.8 | 3.3 |
| Education (percentage of persons aged 25 years) High school education Bachelor's degree or higher | 63.1 11.4 | 65.5 9.3 | 77.5 36.6 | 49.8 9.2 | 79.1 22.1 |
| English-language ability (percentage of persons aged 5 years) Speak a language other than English Do not speak English, | 6.3 | 23.8 | 73.3 | 77.8 | 5.7 |
| "very well" | 2.4 | 9.2 | 38.4 | 39.4 | 1.8 |
| Number of persons per family Percentage of families with own children aged <18 years | 3.5 56.5 | 3.6 60.7 | 3.7 59.5 | 3.8 64.5 | 3.0 45.2 |
| Employment status [†] (percentage of persons aged 16 years) | | | | | |
| Employed | 62.7 | 62.1 | 67.5 | 67.5 | 65.3 |
| Unemployed Percentage of employed persons aged 16 years in a managerial/professional occupation | 12.9 18.1 | 14.4 18.3 | 5.3 30.6 | 10.4 14.1 | 5.0 28.5 |
| Household income in 1989 (\$) Median Mean | 19,758 25,872 | 20,025 26,602 | 36,784 46,695 | 24,156 30,301 | 31,672 40,646 |
| Per capita income in 1989 (\$) | 8,859 | 8,328 | 13,638 | 8,400 | 16,074 |
| Poverty rate (percentage) Families Persons Urban residents (percentage) | 26.3 29.5 87.2 | 27.0 30.9 56.0 | 11.6 14.1 95.4 | 22.3 25.3 91.4 | 7.0 9.2 70.9 |

^{*}Excludes persons of Hispanic origin. The population figures for African Americans in Tables 1 and 2 are different because the population cited in Table 2 includes African Americans of Hispanic origin, while the African American population cited in Table 1 excludes persons of Hispanic origin.

Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census 1993a,c.

Hispanic origin.

These figures do not include several categories of people who were not in the civilian labor force for various reasons, such as students, housewives, retired workers, seasonal workers in an off season who were not looking for work, institutionalized persons, and persons doing only incidental unpaid family work (less than 15 hours during the reference week).

(39.4 percent) have the largest proportions of individuals who feel they do not speak English "very well." They also have the highest proportions of foreign-born persons. American Indians and Alaska Natives, African Americans, and Hispanics have significantly higher levels of unemployment and poverty as well as substantially lower household incomes than Asian Americans, Pacific Islanders, or whites. In all four groups, a majority of members live in urban environments; however, American Indians and Alaska Natives have the lowest proportion of urban residents.

Differences in the demographic characteristics of each of the various racial and ethnic groups are related to variations in national background and immigration history. Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, for example, include approximately 32 different ethnic and national groups and speak nearly 500 languages and dialects (Chen 1993). They trace their background to areas as diverse as Mongolia to the north, Indonesia and the South Pacific Islands to the south, India to the west, and Japan to the east. Hispanics include individuals who trace their background to the original settlers of large areas in what is now the Southwest United States as well as recent immigrants from any of the 18 Spanish-speaking countries in Latin America. The American Indian and Alaska Native population in the United States is likewise composed of a richly diverse group of indigenous cultures, over half of whom do not live on a reservation (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1993c). More than 500 federally recognized tribes and an additional 100 nonfederally recognized tribes are concentrated primarily in 25 reservation states (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1992a). American Indians and Alaska Natives continue to speak more than 150 languages. (For additional information, see U.S. Bureau of the Census reports on Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders [1993a], Hispanics [1993b], and American Indians and Alaska Natives [1993c].) Most African Americans in the United States can trace their ancestry to territories that include the modern states of Benin, Burkina Faso (formerly Upper Volta), Cameroon, the Congo Republic, Côte d'Ivoire (Ivory Coast), the Democratic Republic of the Congo (formerly Zaire), Gabon, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Liberia, Nigeria, Senegal, Sierra Leone, and Togo (Ploski and Williams 1989). The mode of entry for practically all Africans who entered the United States in the seventeenth, eighteenth, and nineteenth centuries (until 1865) was as slaves (see Chapter 4 for further historical discussion). Many recent immigrants came from the Caribbean islands and Sub-Saharan Africa. This report excludes data on the 3.5 million residents of Puerto Rico as well as data on residents of other territories and associated states of the United States; however, many of the issues discussed in this report are relevant to these individuals because they have been influenced by the events taking place in the 50 states.

Over the next 50 years, the population of the four groups is expected to increase dramatically, reaching close to one-half of the country's population by the year 2050 (Table 3), according to estimates from the U.S. Bureau of the Census (1992b). These estimates underscore the need to develop appropriate interventions to avert disturbing tobacco addiction patterns in this large segment of the population.

Effects of Racial/Ethnic Background on Health

Extensive research has been conducted on the relationship between health and race/ethnicity (see, for example, Harwood 1981; Polednak 1989; Braithwaite and Taylor 1992; Young 1994). Published reports of these studies tend to show different rates of

illness across racial/ethnic groups. Some of these differences may be explained by variations in each group's beliefs and attitudes, traditional health-related practices, normative behaviors, social conditions, levels of access to high-quality health care, experiences with discrimination and racism, living environments, competing causes of death, and genetic backgrounds. Genetic factors may contribute to certain differences among groups of people; however, culture, degree of acculturation, and socioeconomic factors are probably far more significant determinants of health status in the United States (Freeman 1993; Adler et al. 1994).

Culture is a broad concept (Kroeber and Kluckhohn 1963) — its influence encompasses all aspects of daily life, including beliefs and practices about health and illness as well as norms that dictate behaviors. Most contemporary societies include many different cultures, which may be defined by historical, geographic, economic, social, and political elements (Helman 1985). The United States has always been a nation of immigrants and coexisting cultures.

Acculturation — the process of learning the values, beliefs, norms, and traditions of a new culture (Marín 1992) — allows individuals to make choices and to learn of new worldviews, while keeping their original views (biculturalism) or modifying their initial perspectives to be more consonant with those of the new culture (assimilation). In multicultural societies such as the United States, acculturation occurs among immigrants (as they learn the host culture) as well as among individuals born in the United States (as they learn the culture of immigrants). Despite the significance of acculturation's link with human behavior, few studies have focused on how acculturation might affect the health status and behavior of ethnic groups in the United States. Part of the problem has been the difficulty in designing appropriate measuring instruments (Marín 1992), although recent research has begun to assess the role that acculturation plays in determining the health status of members of U.S. racial/ethnic groups (Pérez-Stable 1994; Vega and Amaro 1994; Williams and Collins 1995).

Socioeconomic characteristics, which are powerful determinants of health and disease (USDHHS 1985, 1991; Liberatos et al. 1988; HRSA 1991; Williams and Collins 1995), differ markedly among the racial and ethnic groups of the United States (Table 2). Levels of income and education may directly and indirectly affect the health status of individuals (Council on Ethical and Judicial Affairs 1990; Weissman et al. 1991). Income, for example, often is a determinant of access to health care as well as

TABLE 3. Estimated percentage distribution of the U.S. population, by race/ethnicity and Hispanic origin, 1990–2050

| Year | African American | Asian American/ Pacific Islander | American Indian* | White | Hispanic |
|------|---------------------|--|---------------------|-------|----------|
| 1990 | 11.8 | 2.8 | 0.7 | 75.7 | 9.0 |
| 1995 | 12.1 | 3.5 | 0.7 | 73.6 | 10.1 |
| 2000 | 12.3 | 4.2 | 0.8 | 71.6 | 11.1 |
| 2005 | 12.6 | 4.9 | 0.8 | 69.6 | 12.2 |
| 2010 | 12.8 | 5.5 | 0.8 | 67.6 | 13.2 |
| 2020 | 13.3 | 6.8 | 0.9 | 63.9 | 15.2 |
| 2050 | 15.0 | 10.1 | 1.1 | 52.7 | 21.1 |

^{*}Includes Eskimos and Aleuts.

Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census 1992b.

of the quantity and quality of health care available. Persons with low incomes, regardless of race or ethnicity, are more likely to be uninsured (American College of Physicians 1990), to encounter delays in seeking or receiving care or to be denied care (Tallon 1989), to rely on hospital clinics and emergency rooms for health services (NCHS 1985), and to receive substandard care (Burstin et al. 1992). Level of education may influence health beliefs and behaviors, which determine whether and how individuals seek health care, make treatment choices, and comply with treatment suggestions. Because the literature reviewed in this report has often failed to consider the role of socioeconomic factors in the health status of members of racial/ethnic groups, understanding the significance of the results is difficult. Nevertheless, these published reports indicate that access to health care and the type of care received are partly determined by the race and ethnicity of the patient and that members of minority groups are less likely than whites to receive adequate care (e.g., Blendon et al. 1989; CDC 1989; Todd et al. 1993; Williams and Collins 1995).

The information summarized in this report reflects the role of race, ethnicity, and culture in shaping tobacco use among members of the four population groups. Unfortunately, currently available methods do not help delineate the role of acculturation, socioeconomic conditions, and societal problems such as racism, prejudice, and discrimination (e.g., Osborne and Feit 1992; Freeman 1993; Pappas 1994). Nevertheless, efforts were made here to discern the possible role of these variables in explaining tobacco use among racial/ethnic minority group members.

CHAPTER CONCLUSIONS

Following are the specific conclusions for each chapter in this report.

Chapter 2. Patterns of Tobacco Use Among Four Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups

- In 1978–1995, the prevalence of cigarette smoking declined among African American, Asian American and Pacific Islander, and Hispanic adults. However, among American Indians and Alaska Natives, current smoking prevalence did not change for men from 1983 to 1995 or for women from 1978 to 1995.
- 2. Tobacco use varies within and among racial/ethnic groups; among adults, American Indians and Alaska Natives have the highest prevalence of tobacco use; African American and Southeast Asian men also have a high prevalence of smoking. Asian American and Hispanic women have the lowest prevalence.
- 3. In all racial/ethnic groups discussed in this report except American Indians and Alaska Natives, men have a higher prevalence of cigarette smoking than women.
- 4. In all racial/ethnic groups except African Americans, men are more likely than women to use smokeless tobacco.
- 5. Cigarette smoking prevalence increased in the 1990s among African American and Hispanic adolescents after several years of substantial decline among adolescents of all four racial/ethnic minority groups. This increase is particularly striking among African American youths, who had the greatest decline of the four groups during the 1970s and 1980s.

- 6. Since 1978, the prevalence of cigarette smoking has remained strikingly high among American Indian and Alaska Native women of reproductive age and has not declined as it has among African American, Asian American and Pacific Islander, and Hispanic women of reproductive age.
- 7. Declines in smoking prevalence were greater among African American, Hispanic, and white men who were high school graduates than they were among those with less formal education. Among women in these three groups, education-related declines in cigarette smoking were less pronounced.
- 8. Educational attainment accounts for only some of the differences in smoking behaviors (current smoking, heavy smoking, ever smoking, and smoking cessation) between whites and the racial/ethnic minority groups discussed in this report. Other biological, social, and cultural factors are likely to further account for these differences.
- 9. Compared with whites who smoke, smokers in each of the four racial/ethnic minority groups smoke fewer cigarettes each day. Among smokers, African Americans, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders, and Hispanics are more likely than whites to smoke occasionally (less than daily).
- 10.The data in general suggest that acculturation influences smoking patterns in that individuals tend to adopt the smoking behavior of the current broader community; however, the exact effects of acculturation on smoking behavior are difficult to quantify because of limitations on most available measures of this cultural learning process.

Chapter 3. Health Consequences of Tobacco Use Among Four Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups

- 1. Cigarette smoking is a major cause of disease and death in each of the four racial/ethnic groups studied in this report. African Americans currently bear the greatest health burden. Differences in the magnitude of disease risk are directly related to differences in patterns of smoking.
- 2. Although lung cancer incidence and death rates vary widely among the nation's racial/ethnic groups, lung cancer is the leading cause of cancer death for each of the racial/ethnic groups studied in this report. Before 1990, death rates from malignant neoplasms of the respiratory system increased among African American, Hispanic, and American Indian and Alaska Native men and women. From 1990 through 1995 death rates from respiratory cancers decreased substantially among African American men, leveled off among African American women, decreased slightly among Hispanic men and women, and increased among American Indian and Alaska Native men and women.
- 3. Rates of tobacco-related cancers (other than lung cancer) vary widely among members of racial/ethnic groups, and they are particularly high among African American men.
- 4. The effect of cigarette smoking (as reflected by biomarkers of tobacco exposure) on infant birth weight appears to be the same in African American and white women. As reported in previous Surgeon General's reports, cigarette smoking increases the risk of delivering a low-birth-weight infant.
- 5. No significant racial/ethnic group differences have been consistently demonstrated in the relationship between smoking and infant mortality or sudden

- infant death syndrome (SIDS); cigarette smoking has been associated with increased risk of SIDS and remains a probable cause of infant mortality.
- 6. Future research is needed and should focus on how tobacco use affects coronary heart disease, stroke, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and other respiratory diseases among members of racial/ethnic groups. Studies also are needed to determine how the health effects of smokeless tobacco use and exposure to environmental tobacco smoke vary across racial/ethnic minority groups.
- 7. Persons of all racial/ethnic backgrounds are vulnerable to becoming addicted to nicotine, and no consistent differences exist in the overall severity of addiction or symptoms of addiction across racial/ethnic groups.
- 8. Levels of serum cotinine (a biomarker of tobacco exposure) are higher in African American smokers than in white smokers for similar levels of daily cigarette consumption. Further research is needed to clarify the relationship between smoking practices and serum cotinine levels in U.S. racial/ethnic groups. Variables such as group-specific patterns of smoking behavior (e.g., number of puffs per cigarette, retention time of tobacco smoke in the lungs), rates of nicotine metabolism, and brand mentholation could be explored.

Chapter 4. Factors That Influence Tobacco Use Among Four Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups

- The close association of tobacco with significant events and rituals in the history of many racial/ethnic communities and the tobacco industry's long history of providing economic support to some racial/ethnic groups including employment opportunities and contributions to community groups and leaders — may undermine prevention and control efforts.
- 2. The tobacco industry's targeted advertising and promotion of tobacco products among members of these four U.S. racial/ethnic groups may undermine prevention and control efforts and thus lead to serious health consequences.
- 3. The high level of tobacco product advertising in racial/ethnic publications is problematic because the editors and publishers of these publications may omit stories dealing with the damaging effects of tobacco or limit the level of tobacco-use prevention and health promotion information included in their publications.
- 4. Although much of the original research on psychosocial factors that influence tobacco use reflects general processes that may apply to racial/ethnic populations, documenting such generalizability requires further research.
- 5. The initiation of tobacco use and early tobacco use among members of the various racial/ethnic minority groups seem to be related to numerous categories of variables such as sociodemographic, environmental, historical, behavioral, personal, and psychological although the predictive power of these categories or of specific risk factors is not known with certainty because of the paucity of research.
- 6. Cigarette smoking among members of the four racial/ethnic groups is associated with depression, psychological stress, and environmental factors such as advertising and promotion and peers who smoke, as is also the case in the general population. The role of these factors in tobacco use among members

of these racial/ethnic groups deserves attention by researchers and persons who develop smoking prevention and cessation programs.

Chapter 5. Tobacco Control and Education Efforts Among Members of Four Racial/Ethnic Minority Groups

- More research is needed on the effect of culturally appropriate programs to reduce tobacco use among racial/ethnic minority groups. Interventions should be language appropriate; addressing psychosocial characteristics such as depression, stress, and acculturation may increase the acceptance of programs by members of racial/ethnic groups.
- 2. To be culturally appropriate, tobacco control programs must reflect the targeted racial/ethnic group's cultural values, consider the group's psychosocial correlates of tobacco use, and use strategies that are acceptable and credible to members of the group. Culturally competent program staff must be aware and accepting of cultural differences, be able to assess their own cultural values, be conscious of intercultural dynamics when persons of different cultures interact, be aware of a racial/ethnic group's relevant cultural characteristics, and have the skills to adapt to cultural diversity.
- 3. Numerous strategies are needed to control tobacco use among racial/ethnic youths: restricting minors' access to tobacco products, establishing culturally appropriate school-based programs, and designing mass media efforts geared to young people's interests, attitudes, expectations, and norms. Recent provisions of the Synar Amendment, designed to prevent minors' access to tobacco products, and the FDA regulations aimed at reducing the access to and appeal of tobacco products to young people are intended to reduce tobacco use among all youth, including members of racial/ethnic minority groups.
- 4. Members of racial/ethnic groups are less likely than the general population to participate in smoking cessation groups and to receive cessation advice from health care providers. Barriers to ethnic group participation include limited cultural competence of health care providers and a lack of transportation, money, and access to health care.
- 5. Available data indicate that racial/ethnic groups support smoking restrictions, such as increasing cigarette excise taxes, banning cigarette advertisements, restricting access to cigarette vending machines, raising the legal age of purchase, prohibiting sponsorship of events by tobacco companies, and establishing clean indoor air regulations. Additional research is needed to evaluate how best to build on this base of public opinion support to strengthen existing tobacco prevention and control programs within racial/ethnic communities.
- 6. Prevention and cessation efforts in racial/ethnic communities are limited by underdeveloped tobacco control infrastructures and low levels of resources for research, program development, and program dissemination. Greater resources are needed in racial/ethnic minority communities to build tobacco control infrastructures and to develop initiatives.

Bibliography

- Adler NE, Boyce T, Chesney MA, Cohen S, Folkman S, Kahn RL, et al. Socioeconomic status and health: the challenge of the gradient. American Psychologist 1994;49(1):15–24.
- American College of Physicians. Access to health care [position paper]. Annals of Internal Medicine 1990;112(9):641–61.
- Blendon RJ, Aiken LH, Freeman HE, Corey CR. Access to medical care for black and white Americans: a matter of continuing concern. Journal of the American Medical Association 1989;261(2):278–81.
- Braithwaite RL, Taylor SE, editors. Health Issues in the Black Community. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers, 1992.
- Burstin HR, Lipsitz SR, Brennan TA. Socioeconomic status and risk for substandard medical care. Journal of the American Medical Association 1992;268(17):2383–7.
- Centers for Disease Control. Pap smear screening Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 1988. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 1989;38(45): 777–9.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Chronic Disease in Minority Populations. Atlanta: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1994.
- Chen VW. Smoking and the health gap in minorities. Annals of Epidemiology 1993;3(2):159–64. Council on Ethical and Judicial Affairs. Black-white disparities in health care. Journal of the American Medical Association 1990;263(17):2344–6.
- Day JC. Population Projections of the United States by Age, Sex, Race, and Hispanic Origin: 1995 to 2050. U.S. Bureau of the Census, Current Population Reports. Washington (DC): US Government Printing Office. P25-1130, 1996.
- Freeman HP. Poverty, race, racism, and survival. Annals of Epidemiology 1993;3(2):145-9.
- Harwood A, editor. Ethnicity and Medical Care. Cambridge (MA): Harvard University Press, 1981. Health Resources and Services Administration. Health Status of Minorities and Low-Income Groups. Washington (DC): US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Ser-
- vice, Health Resources and Services Administration, Bureau of Health Professions, Division of Disadvantaged Assistance. DHHS Publication No. (HRSA) HRS-P-DV 85-1, 1985.
- Health Resources and Services Administration. Health Status of Minorities and Low-Income Groups: Third Edition. Washington (DC): US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Health Resources and Services Administration, Bureau of Health Professions, Division of Disadvantaged Assistance. GPO Publication No. 507-J-1, 1991.
- Helman C. Culture, Health and Illness: An Introduction for Health Professionals. Bristol (England): John Wright & Sons, 1985.
- Kroeber AL, Kluckhohn C. Culture: A Critical Review of Concepts and Definitions. New York: Vintage Books, 1963.
- Liberatos P, Link BG, Kelsey JL. The measurement of social class in epidemiology. Epidemiologic Reviews 1988;10:87–121.
- Marín G. Issues in the measurement of acculturation among Hispanics. In: Geisinger KF, editor. Psychological Testing of Hispanics. Washington (DC): American Psychological Association, 1992:235–51.
- National Center for Health Statistics. Persons With and Without a Regular Source of Medical Care: United States. Data from the National Health Survey. Vital and Health Statistics. Series 10, No. 151. Hyattsville (MD): US Department of Health and Human Services, Public
- Health Service, National Center for Health Statistics. DHHS Publication No. (PHS) 85-1579, 1985.
 National Center for Health Statistics. Healthy People 2000 Review, 1993. Hyattsville (MD): US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. DHHS Publication No. (PHS) 94-1232-1, 1994
- National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Minority Programs of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute: Fiscal Year 1993. Bethesda (MD): US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. NIH Publication No. 94-3037, 1994.

- National Institutes of Health. Minorities in NIH Extramural Grant Programs: Fiscal Year 1982–1991. Bethesda (MD): National Institutes of Health, Division of Research Grants. GPO Publication No. 351-597, 1993.
- Novello AC, Soto-Torres LE. One voice, one vision—uniting to improve Hispanic-Latino health. Public Health Reports 1993;108(5):529–33.
- Osborne NG, Feit MD. The use of race in medical research [commentary]. Journal of the American Medical Association 1992;267(2):275–9.
- Pappas G. Elucidating the relationships between race, socioeconomic status, and health [editorial]. American Journal of Public Health 1994;84(6):892–3.
- Pérez-Stable EJ. Cardiovascular disease. In: Molina CW, Aguirre-Molina M. Latino Health in the US: A Growing Challenge. Washington (DC): American Public Health Association, 1994: 247–78.
- Ploski HA, Williams J, editors. The Negro Almanac: A Reference Work on the African American. Detroit: Gale Research Inc, 1989.
- Polednak AP. Racial and Ethnic Differences in Disease. New York: Oxford University Press, 1989. Tallon JR Jr. A health policy agenda proposal for including the poor. Journal of the American Medical Association 1989;261(7):1044.
- Todd KH, Samaroo N, Hoffman JR. Ethnicity as a risk factor for inadequate emergency department analgesia. Journal of the American Medical Association 1993;269(12):1537–9.
- US Bureau of the Census. Chapter C, General Social and Economic Characteristics. Part 1, United States Summary. 1980 Census of Population, Volume 1, Characteristics of the Population. Washington (DC): US Government Printing Office. Publication No. PC80-1-C1, 1983.
- US Bureau of the Census. 1990 Census of Population, General Population Characteristics, United States. Washington (DC): US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, Bureau of the Census, 1992a.
- US Bureau of the Census. Population Projections of the United States, by Age, Sex, Race, and Hispanic Origin: 1992 to 2050. U.S. Bureau of the Census, Current Population Reports. Washington (DC): US Government Printing Office. P25-1092, 1992b.
- US Bureau of the Census. 1990 Census of Population: Asians and Pacific Islanders in the United States. Washington (DC): US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, Bureau of the Census. Publication No. CP-3-5, 1993a.
- US Bureau of the Census. 1990 Census of Population: Persons of Hispanic Origin in the United States. Washington (DC): US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, Bureau of the Census. Publication No. CP-3-3, 1993b.
- US Bureau of the Census. 1990 Census of Population: Social and Economic Characteristics, United States. Washington (DC): US Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration, Bureau of the Census. Publication No. CP-2-1, 1993c.
- US Department of Commerce. Directive No. 15. Race and ethnic standards for federal statistics and administrative reporting. In: Statistical Policy Handbook. Washington (DC): US Department of Commerce, Office of Federal Statistical Policy and Standards, 1978:37–8.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. Report of the Secretary's Task Force on Black & Minority Health. Volume 1: Executive Summary. Washington (DC): US Department of Health and Human Services, 1985.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2000: National Health Promotion and Disease Prevention Objectives. Washington (DC): US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service. DHHS Publication No. (PHS) 91-50212, 1991.
- US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2000: Midcourse Review and 1995 Revisions. Washington (DC): US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, 1995.
- Vega WA, Amaro H. Latino outlook: good health, uncertain prognosis. Annual Review of Public Health 1994;15:39–67.
- Weissman JS, Stern R, Fielding SL, Epstein AM. Delayed access to health care: risk factors, reasons, and consequences. Annals of Internal Medicine 1991;114(4):325–31.

Williams DR, Collins C. US socioeconomic and racial differences in health: patterns and explanations. Annual Review of Sociology 1995;21:349–86.

Young TK. The Health of Native Americans: Toward a Bicultural Epidemiology. New York: Oxford University Press, 1994.

MMWR

The Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) Series is prepared by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and is available free of charge in electronic format and on a paid subscription basis for paper copy. To receive an electronic copy on Friday of each week, send an e-mail message to listserv@listserv.cdc.gov. The body content should read SUBscribe mmwr-toc. Electronic copy also is available from CDC's World-Wide Web server at http://www.cdc.gov/ or from CDC's file transfer protocol server at ftp.cdc.gov. To subscribe for paper copy, contact Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402; telephone (202) 512-1800.

Data in the weekly *MMWR* are provisional, based on weekly reports to CDC by state health departments. The reporting week concludes at close of business on Friday; compiled data on a national basis are officially released to the public on the following Friday. Address inquiries about the *MMWR* Series, including material to be considered for publication, to: Editor, *MMWR* Series, Mailstop C-08, CDC, 1600 Clifton Rd., N.E., Atlanta, GA 30333; telephone (888) 232-3228.

All material in the MMWR Series is in the public domain and may be used and reprinted without permission; citation as to source, however, is appreciated.

☆U.S. Government Printing Office: 1998-633-228/87031 Region IV